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I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. By complaint filed October 10, 2000 Casino Transportation, Inc. (“CTI”), alleges that Casino Coach, Inc., is providing scheduled service for Colorado Central Station Casino without appropriate authority from this agency in violation of the terms of Articles 10 and/or 11 of Title 40, Colorado Revised Statutes, by providing services as a common or contract carrier without having a certificate or contract carrier permit as required by law.  On October 16, 2000 this agency sent an Order to Satisfy or Answer to Casino Coach, Inc., at its Westminster address.  On November 6, 2000, CTI filed its answer, noting that federal law deregulated its charter activity with the casino, and that it was in compliance with applicable state and federal law in all other respects.

B. Pursuant to notice the matter came on for hearing on December 4, 2000, before Administrative Law Judge (“ALJ”) Arthur G. Staliwe.  Pursuant to the provisions of § 40-6-109, C.R.S., ALJ Staliwe now transmits to the Commission the record and exhibits of said hearing, together with a written recommended decision containing findings of fact, conclusions, and order. 

II. FINDINGS OF FACT

C. Based upon all the evidence of record, the following is found as fact:

1. This docket is a companion to Docket No. 99A-617BP wherein Casino Coach, Inc., requested contract carrier authority from this Commission.  See Decision No. R01-24, January 29, 2001.

2. The testimony of Terry Willert, chief of the transportation section of this agency, establishes that on September 6, 2000, he personally spoke with John W. Hicken, president of Casino Coach, Inc., who advised Mr. Willert that Casino Coach, Inc., intended to continue providing charter service to Colorado Central Station pursuant to a $90,000 fee per month for the use of three Prevost over-the-road motor coaches, one a 1999 model having 56 seats and two 2000 models each having 55 seats.  Further, the testimony of Mr. Willert established that in his 16 years with this agency it has never regulated free service such as that provided to customers by motels and hotels between the establishments and airports, or free service provided by automobile dealerships who shuttle customers to work from the dealership if the customer is having a car repaired there, and other examples of free transportation provided to patrons of a business.

3. Casino Coach, Inc., is the holder of PUC-55667 and CSB-00142.  As pertinent to this case, sometime prior to September 2000, CCI chartered three Prevost over-the-road motor coaches to Colorado Central Station Casino for a fixed fee of $90,000 per month to shuttle employees and customers of the casino on schedule between the casino’s terminal at 2760 S. Havana Street, Aurora, Colorado, and the casino itself in Blackhawk, Colorado.  In addition to the three over-the-road motor coaches, a 33-passenger vehicle is utilized from time to time when one of the coaches is undergoing maintenance or repair.  Mr. Hicken was firm that his company was responsible to the casino as a charter bus company, and did not receive any money whatsoever from passengers.  In addition, the busses bear casino advertising on the sides and rear, and the drivers wear casino-provided shirts with the casino’s logo.  All money comes from the casino, with the $90,000 per month to be paid regardless of the number of passengers carried.  The casino directs the arrival and departure of the busses, and also determines which passengers, if any, are allowed to ride.

4. The terminal itself is manned by employees of the bus company, part of whose job it is to issue a first-time pass to gamblers who state they are going to the casino, while the casino itself issues its five-ride passes to gamblers who register with the casino under the casino’s frequent gambler program called Ride-N-Win.

5. The testimony of Daniel McDonald, general manager of Casino Coach, Inc., establishes that all passengers must either have a casino employee pass, the one-ride pass, or a five-ride pass provided by the casino in order to return from Blackhawk to Aurora.  No money changes hands between the bus company and the passengers for the transportation.

6. William Vincent is the director of marketing for Colorado Central Station, Blackhawk.  The testimony of Mr. Vincent establishes that the casino desires to provide free transportation to its employees from Aurora to Blackhawk, and also provide free transportation to gamblers who patronize the casino an average of $50 per visit or $250 per five-ride pass.  This offer is generally extended to the public for a gambler’s first day of gambling, followed thereafter by a requirement that the passenger subscribe to a five-ride pass. While each day’s passengers are provided a roundtrip, the casino reserves the right to decline to carry in the future anyone who is not a frequent gambler, or one who does not wager the required $250 per five-ride pass.

7.
Mr. Vincent was adamant that there are no under-the-table subsidies to the bus company, only the monthly $90,000 for the vehicles in question.  Mr. Vincent was also firm that the casino exercised control over the last departure at 2:00 a.m. to ensure that all late gamblers were picked up and returned to Aurora, Colorado.  Mr. Vincent acknowledged that the casino has no firm idea of how much the casino wins or loses per passenger, nor how much each passenger wins or loses, but only whether a gambler using magnetic-strip plastic cards actually wagers the required $250 within the time limits of each five-ride pass.

7. Mr. Vincent’s testimony establishes that there is no identifiable charge to the passenger for the transportation, since the gambler on any given day might win more than $50, break even, or lose $50 or more.  The casino itself has given away over $80,000 in jackpots to its Ride-N-Win customers who have gambled $50 or more per visit.  Indeed, the testimony of Mr. Vincent established that the gamblers targeted for the free-ride program average more than $250 per visit, thus raising the question of whether the $50 per visit is any requirement at all.

8. Historically, it has been the practice of this agency to consider the service of bus companies who charter busses to others who in turn provide free scheduled service to nevertheless be charter service, since the charter service is the only compensated service resulting in subject matter jurisdiction.  See Docket No. 00G-462CP, and Decision No. R00-1395, December 8, 2000.

III. discussion

D. Charter Service

1. On June 9, 1998, the President of the United States signed the TEA-21 which preempted state regulation of intrastate charter bus transportation.  As noted in what is now 49 U.S.C. § 14501 (a)(1)(c):

No state or political subdivision thereof ... shall enact or enforce any law, rule, regulation, standard, or other provision having the force and effect of law relating to –

***

(c)
the authority to provide intrastate ... charter bus transportation.

In turn 49 CFR, Part 390.5 defines charter service thusly:

 
Charter transportation of passengers means transportation, using a bus, of a group of persons who pursuant to a common purpose, under a single contract, at a fixed charge for the motor vehicle, have acquired the exclusive use of the motor vehicle to travel together under an itinerary either specified in advance or modified after having left the place of origin.

2. And, by Decision No. C99-509, May 21, 1999, this agency issued a declaratory order indicating it would follow the federal law for busses with a seating capacity of 32 or more.  Since the busses being chartered here are 56-passenger models ... this agency must dismiss.

E. Free Service

1. Intervenor in effect argues that because the chartering party (i.e., the casino) later uses the chartered busses for scheduled service (albeit free scheduled service) there no longer is a valid charter, and the service effectively becomes disguised scheduled common carriage subject to this commission’s jurisdiction.  Intervenor’s argument fails for one principal reason:  there is no identifiable charge for the scheduled transportation.  Thus, the subsequent use of the busses by the casino does not run afoul of § 40-1-102(3)(a)(I), C.R.S.

2. This is not the first time this agency has dealt with the problem.  In 1960 this agency was called upon by taxi companies to determine whether motels who transported their guests, or potential guests, to and from the airport were de facto common carriers, even where the service was indirectly paid for by all guests of the motels.  In Decision No. 55240, October 19, 1960, the Commission held:

 
Substantial evidence was adduced by the parties, however, a stipulation was entered into by them which contains the essential facts, which stipulation is as follows, to-wit:

 

“It is stipulated that the guest who is transported either to or from Stapleton Airfield by either respondent pays the same rate for the accommodations which are furnished to him as a guest who is not so transported, and the guest receiving the transportation pays no additional amount for such transportation.

 

“In the case of each of the respondents the bus is operated for guests only and no persons other than guests are transported by the bus; that the only transportation for the bus in each case is between their respective places and Stapleton Airfield.”

 
The Commission FINDS that Respondents provide motor vehicle transportation services for their guests to and from, from and to, Stapleton Airfield and their Motels; that the transported guests pay the same for their Motel accommodations as the non-transported guests; that the costs for providing such transportation services are absorbed in the overall expenses of their Motel operations by the Respondents; that actually the non-transported guests, as well as the transported guests, indirectly pay for such transportation services; that such transportation services are actually incidental to the business of the Respondents; that to avail himself of such transportation services a member of the public must be either a guest, or at least a prospective guest, of the Motel; that the transportation services are only incidental to the primary purpose of the guests having, and the Respondents providing, Motel accommodations; that the consideration paid by the transported guests for such transportation services is incidental to, and only a slight fraction of, the consideration paid to the Motel and is actually of an unknown and not calculable amount; that such transportation services rendered are so limited and restricted, and so integrated to, and so incidental a part of, the Motel business operations of the Respondents, that they do not constitute common carrier transportation of persons as contemplated under the statute; that the transportation services rendered by the Respondents are not offered and provided “indiscriminately” to the public at large, and are not rendered by the Respondents “for hire” in the sense that the words are used in the statute.

 
The Commission further FINDS that the transportation services afforded by the Respondents are not a means of transportation similar to those afforded by railroads in the following respects, (1) the transportation afforded by railroads is for a consideration paid before, or at the time the transportation is provided, which is not true in the present instance; (2) the consideration for the transportation afforded by railroads is a definite and known amount, which is not true in the present instance; and (3) the consideration for the transportation afforded by railroads is for a money consideration only, whereas, in the present instance the consideration for the transportation consists primarily in the individual becoming a guest of the Respondent Motels.

 
The Commission further FINDS that the transportation afforded by the Motels is not afforded to the public indiscriminately, but only to those who do business with them.

 
The Commission further FINDS that the transportation afforded by the Respondents and transportation afforded by railroads or street railways are essentially different rather than “similar.”

Decision No. 55240, at pages 3, 4. It should be noted that the discussion regarding rail service referred to scheduled service.

3. Ten years later, one taxi company tried again by bypassing the Commission and going directly to district court seeking an injunction.  The district court dismissed the complaint and denied the relief, and the supreme court affirmed in Yellow Cab, Inc. v. Malibu Motor Hotel, Inc., 172 Colo. 349, 473 P.2d 710 (1970), holding:

 
Introduced before the trial court, both in connection with a motion to dismiss and as an affirmative defense, was decision No. 55240 of the Public Utilities Commission of the State of Colorado, entitled Yellow Cab v. Skyways Service Co.  In that proceeding Yellow Cab had requested the Commission to order other motel operators – not the ones named in the present litigation – to cease and desist identical acts complained of in the district court law suit or, in the alternative, to require said motels to obtain P.U.C. authority for their operation.  In that decision the Commission decreed that such transportation was not in violation of the statutes governing the operation of public utilities in this state; was not within the jurisdiction of the Commission; ...

***

[1]
The trial court, we hold, properly denied the injunctive relief requested and dismissed the complaint after a hearing on the merits presented to the court on stipulation of facts.  The court’s decision was correct, but we affirm for another reason.

***

172 Colo. at pages 350, 351.

4. Simply put, the casino’s subsequent use of the chartered busses to provide free scheduled service is a type of service that has never been regulated by this agency for over 40 years.  To now hold otherwise is to overturn nearly a half-century of law and practice that the people and businesses of Colorado have relied on.  For obvious reasons, this office declines to do so.

5. In summation, what we have is federally deregulated charter service coupled with never-regulated free service at the state level.  To hold that the two combined now equal a regulated service of some kind (presumably compensated scheduled common carriage) is to turn the facts, law, and logic upside down. This office merely notes that such a position was never applied to Airport Express, Inc., in Docket No. 00G-462CP, Dec. No. R00-1395, December 8, 2000, under similar facts.

IV. ORDER

F. The Commission Orders That:

1. The complaint of Casino Transportation, Inc., is dismissed.  The conduct of Casino Coach, Inc., is beyond this agency’s jurisdiction given both the federal and state law in this area.

2. This Recommended Decision shall be effective on the day it becomes the Decision of the Commission, if that is the case, and is entered as of the date above.  

3. As provided by § 40-6-109, C.R.S., copies of this Recommended Decision shall be served upon the parties, who may file exceptions to it.  

a. If no exceptions are filed within 20 days after service or within any extended period of time authorized, or unless the decision is stayed by the Commission upon its own motion, the recommended decision shall become the decision of the Commission and subject to the provisions of § 40-6-114, C.R.S.

b. If a party seeks to amend, modify, annul, or reverse basic findings of fact in its exceptions, that party must request and pay for a transcript to be filed, or the parties may stipulate to portions of the transcript according to the procedure stated in § 40-6-113, C.R.S.  If no transcript or stipulation is filed, the Commission is bound by the facts set out by the administrative law judge and the parties cannot challenge these facts.  This will limit what the Commission can review if exceptions are filed.

4. If exceptions to this Decision are filed, they shall not exceed 30 pages in length, unless the Commission for good cause shown permits this limit to be exceeded.

THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION
OF THE STATE OF COLORADO



ARTHUR G. STALIWE
________________________________


Administrative Law Judge
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